Under the Microscope

- Gibney, K. *et al.* (2013) Using disability-adjusted life years to set health-based targets: a novel use of an established burden of disease metric. *J. Public Health Policy* 34, 439–446. doi:10.1057/jphp.2013.22
- Government Inquiry into Havelock North Drinking Water. (2017) Report of the Havelock North drinking water inquiry: stage 1. Government Inquiry into Havelock North Drinking Water, Auckland, New Zealand.
- Hrudey, S.E. and Hrudey, E.J. (2007) Published case studies of waterborne disease outbreaks—evidence of a recurrent threat. Water Environ. Res. 79, 233–245. doi:10.2175/106143006X95483
- Nelson, R. (2016) Crisis in Flint: lead and Legionnaires' disease. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 16, 298–299. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(16)00082-7
- 6. The Lancet. (2016) Dangerous disregard for the right to water [Editorial]. *The Lancet* **388**, 2838. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32511-9
- Jetoo, S. et al. (2015) The Toledo drinking water advisory: suggested application of the water safety planning approach. Sustainability 7, 9787–9808. doi:10.3390/ su7089787
- WHO (2011) Guidelines for drinking-water quality, 4th edn. World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland.
- International Organization for Standardization. (2005) ISO 22000: 2005 Food safety management systems – Requirements for any organization in the food chain. ISO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Yokoi, H. *et al.* (2006) Study on the introduction of hazard analysis and critical control point (HACCP) concept of the water quality management in water supply systems. *Water Sci. Technol.* 53, 483–492. doi:10.2166/wst.2006. 153
- Viljoen, F.C. (2010) The World Health Organization's water safety plan is much more than just an integrated drinking water quality management plan. *Water Sci. Technol.* 61, 173–179. doi:10.2166/wst.2010.792
- Mälzer, H.J. *et al.* (2010) Identification, assessment, and control of hazards in water supply: experiences from water safety plan implementations in Germany. *Water Sci. Technol.* **61**, 1307–1315. doi:10.2166/wst.2010.026

- Ye, B. *et al.* (2015) Risk assessment and water safety plan: case study in Beijing, China. J. Water Health 13, 510–521. doi:10.2166/wh.2014.101
- NHMRC and NRMMC. (2011) National water quality management strategy paper 6: Australian drinking water guidelines. National Health and Medical Research Council, National Resource Management Ministerial Council, Canberra, Australia.
- NHMRC. (2016) Australian Drinking Water Guidelines: draft framework on microbial bealth based targets. https://consultations.nhmrc.gov.au/public_consultations/adwg-microbial (accessed 15 August 2017).
- 16. WSAA. (2015) Drinking water source assessment and treatment requirements: manual for the application of bealth-based treatment targets. Water Services Association of Australia, Melbourne, Australia.
- Walker, R. (2016) The water safety continuum: a practical way to implement a health-based target for microbial quality. *Water e-Journal* 1, e1–6. doi:10.21139/ wej.2016.008

Biographies

Christopher Owens is a doctoral student at the UNSW School of Public Health and Community Medicine and a Senior Analyst at Sydney Water. His research interests include water safety planning and water quality risk models.

Paul Byleveld is the Manager of the Water Unit at NSW Health and the co-supervisor of this research.

Nicholas Osborne is a Senior Lecturer at the UNSW School of Public Health and Community Medicine and the principal supervisor of this research.

Public health impact of the Enteroviruses and Parechoviruses



Ben Knippenberg

Public Health, South Eastern Sydney Local Health District Randwick, NSW, Australia Email: ben.knippenberg@health. nsw.gov.au



Mark J Ferson

School of Public Health and Community Medicine University of New South Wales Kensington, NSW, Australia

Enteroviruses (EV) comprise viruses originally classified on cell culture replication patterns and clinical manifestations into a number of groups: poliovirus, coxsackievirus A, coxsackievirus B and ECHOvirus. The closely related genus *Parechovirus* has more recently been associated with human disease. EVs are common commensals of the human gut, often found without any ill effects on the person, but are also associated with a wide range of diseases and syndromes including non-specific rash illnesses, hand, foot and mouth disease (HFMD), conjunctivitis, meningitis and encephalitis, myocarditis and polio. This results in a significant burden of disease worldwide, often due to a particular genotype of EV. An estimated 1 billion people are infected with EV every year. Australia has not seen endemic polio since 1972, and as a result of global eradication efforts, wild poliovirus is now only present in Afghanistan, Pakistan and Nigeria, although cases of paralysis caused by vaccine-derived poliovirus have been detected in the past 1–2 years in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Syria and the Lao People's Democratic Republic¹. In Australia, an acute flaccid paralysis surveillance program is conducted in order to support and verify Australia's polio-free status. The laboratory component is coordinated by the Victorian Infectious Diseases Reference Laboratory and the clinical component by the Australian Paediatric Surveillance Unit².

Although most EV serotypes typically cause subclinical infection, some can result in serious complications disproportionately affecting neonates and young infants. In high income countries, up to 60% of aseptic meningitis in infants under 3 months of age are caused by EV and human parechoviruses (HPeV). As a single species parechovirus type 3 is the most common cause of viral meningitis in this age group. EV and HPeV manifest seasonally with a peak in summer. This was recently demonstrated in a large New South Wales outbreak with cases of HPeV-3 meningitis and sepsis in infants³. The ease of transmissibility, prolonged shedding in stool and respiratory secretions, and the resistance of these non-enveloped picornaviruses to common disinfectants sustain outbreak propagation.

One highly neurovirulent serotype, EV-A71 has been known to cause severe rhombencephalitis in the Western Pacific region including several documented outbreaks in Australia since it was first described in 1969. EV-A71 neurotropism for the midbrain may compromise cardiopulmonary function leading to long term sequelae and death. Devastating outbreaks resulted in the death of 78 children in 1998 in Taiwan and 126 deaths reported in the 2008 outbreak in China^{4,5}. In 2013, Sydney experienced a severe EV-A71 outbreak resulting in four deaths in young infants and focal paresis described as the most common persisting functional deficit⁶.

More recently, the EV-D68 outbreak in North America underlined the importance of EV surveillance as it was predominantly transmitted through the respiratory route whereas EVs are usually passed on by the faecal-oral route⁷. In response, the Center for Disease Control (CDC) developed an EV-D68 specific assay with a reported sensitivity and specificity of 98% to 100% and 92% to 98% in respiratory samples respectively.

As with most viruses, EV and HPeV diagnosis has shifted from conventional culture to nucleic acid detection (NAD) techniques as they have increased sensitivity and a clinically relevant turnaround time. Current molecular assays for EV and HPeV diagnosis rely on reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) of highly conserved genomic sequences within the 5'-untranslated region (UTR) present in all known serotypes. Commercial assays have reported sensitivities ranging from 94% to 100% on CSF, blood, respiratory samples and stool. These assays have also been used to detect EV RNA in cardiac and hepatic tissue⁸. In neonates and young infants with sepsis or meningitis, EV or HPeV RT-PCR on blood is often more sensitive than on CSF making combined testing recommended to increase diagnostic yield. In the case of EV-A71, there has been no correlation established between viraemia and the presence of neurological complications nor the severity of clinical presentation^{9,10}.

Caution is warranted with the interpretation of stool and respiratory sample results as asymptomatic shedding has been reported for weeks to months post infection, rendering the positive predictive value of an affirmative RT-PCR limited. HPeV RT-PCR requires different primers underpinning the need to test for both in case of clinical suspicion. Sharing a high proportion of nucleotides in the 5'-UTR region, cross amplification of common rhinoviruses may occur in EV RT-PCR from respiratory samples. Without sequencing, commercial assays will not be able to differentiate between EV and rhinoviruses.

Speciation and genotyping relies on sequencing of the highly variable VP1 capsid protein. Between 2007 and 2012, Papadakis *et al.* were able to genotype 43% of 729 EV RT-PCR positive CSF samples from patients with aseptic meningitis in Victoria. The four most common genotypes identified were ECHOvirus 6, ECHOvirus 30, ECHOvirus 25, and coxsackievirus A9, comprising 61% of all EVs identified¹¹.

Current treatment of EVs relies on early recognition by astute physicians and supportive therapy. Based on retrospective data the World Health Organization (WHO) 2011 guide to clinical management and public health response to HFMD recommend the use of IVIG for severe cases of EV-A71 neurological disease¹². Several capsid-inhibitor compounds targeting the EV capsid-canyon hydrophobic pocket are under investigation. Pleconaril is the only compound that has gone through phase III trials in neonates with EV sepsis, but strong efficacy data are lacking¹³. Several vaccine designs are going through early stages of development, but the most successful approach so far has been with the use of formalininactivated EV-A71 vaccines. Phase III trials involving more than 30 000 Chinese infants and children did not reveal any significant adverse events and showed they can prevent 90% of EV-A71 HFMD and 80% of EV-A71 complications^{14,15}. Similarly, formalin-inactivated EV-A71 vaccines are being trialled in phase I in Singapore and Taiwan. These inactivated viruses are based on the C4 genotype most commonly causing disease in mainland China. Data collection of Australian aseptic meningo-encephalitis EV genotypes may elucidate the role of commercially available EV-A71 vaccines in mitigating CNS complications.

Several studies have shown that rapid diagnosis of EV meningitis by RT-PCR results in decreased length of hospitalisation and cost savings, particularly at times of high prevalence such as during seasonal outbreaks¹⁶. In the absence of pleocytosis, strengthening of laboratory capacity for testing of EV and HPeV RT-PCR can help clinicians to accurately diagnose aseptic meningitis and provide optimal treatment.

Further integration of data on commonly circulating genotypes into Australia's existing EV surveillance networks will prove to be crucial for early recognition and identification of emerging strains such as EV-A71 and EV-D68 as well as more virulent strain variants, thus allowing a timely and effective public health response.

Apart from poliovirus, EVs and associated syndromes are not subject to statutory notification under public health legislation in Australian states and territories. Surveillance of acute flaccid paralysis is currently being undertaken whilst it has been suggested that effort should also be directed to surveillance of infectious causes of encephalitis¹⁷. More robust nationwide surveillance into common genotypes causing severe disease may also guide policy makers to introduce a targeted vaccine.

References

- http://polioeradication.org/polio-today/polio-now/this-week/ (accessed 23 September 2017).
- http://www.vidrl.org.au/laboratories/poliovirus-reference/afp-surveillance/ (accessed 23 September 2017).
- Cumming, G. *et al.* (2015) Parechovirus genotype 3 outbreak among infants, New South Wales, Australia, 2013–2014. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 21, 1144–1152. doi:10.3201/eid2107.141149
- Ho, M. *et al.* (1999) An epidemic of enterovirus 71 infection in Taiwan. Taiwan Enterovirus Epidemic Working Group. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **341**, 929–935. doi:10.1056/NEJM199909233411301
- Zhang, Y. *et al.* (2010) An emerging recombinant human Enterovirus 71 responsible for the 2008 outbreak of hand foot and mouth disease in Fuyang city of China. *Virol. J.* 7, 94. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-7-94

- Teoh, H.-L. et al. (2016) Clinical characteristics and functional motor outcomes of Enterovirus 71 neurological disease in children. JAMA Neurol. 73, 300–307. doi:10.1001/jamaneurol.2015.4388
- Peci, A. *et al.* (2015) Epidemiology of Enterovirus D68 in Ontario. *PLoS One* 10, e0142841. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0142841
- 8. Dunn, J.J. (2016) Enteroviruses and Parechoviruses. Microbiol. Spectr. 4.
- Kung, C.-M. *et al.* (2007) Differences in replication capacity between enterovirus 71 isolates obtained from patients with encephalitis and those obtained from patients with herpangina in Taiwan. *J. Med. Virol.* **79**, 60–68. doi:10.1002/ jmv.20761
- Cheng, H.-Y. *et al.* (2014) The correlation between the presence of viremia and clinical severity in patients with enterovirus 71 infection: a multi-center cohort study. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 14, 417. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-14-417
- Papadakis, G. *et al.* (2014) Detection and genotyping of enteroviruses in cerebrospinal fluid in patients in Victoria, Australia, 2007–2013. *J. Med. Virol.* 86, 1609–1613. doi:10.1002/jmv.23885
- 12. WHO. (2011) A guide to clinical management and public health response for hand, foot and mouth disease (HFMD). WHO Press, Geneva. Public Health. 18.
- Abzug, M.J. et al. (2016) A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of pleconaril for the treatment of neonates with enterovirus sepsis. J. Pediatric Infect. Dis. Soc. 5, 53–62. doi:10.1093/jpids/piv015
- Zhu, F.-C. *et al.* (2013) Efficacy, safety, and immunology of an inactivated alumadjuvant enterovirus 71 vaccine in children in China: a multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet (London, England)* 381, 2024–2032. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61049-1
- Li, R. *et al.* (2014) An inactivated enterovirus 71 vaccine in healthy children. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **370**, 829–837. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1303224
- Wallace, S.S. *et al.* (2017) Impact of enterovirus testing on resource use in febrile young infants: a systematic review. *Hosp. Pediatr.* 7, 96–102. doi:10.1542/hpeds. 2016-0060
- Durrheim, D.N. *et al.* (2012) The adequacy of encephalitis surveillance for emerging infectious diseases in Australia. *Retrovirology* 9, O9. doi:10.1186/ 1742-4690-9-S1-O9

Biographies

Ben Knippenberg is a dual trainee in microbiology and infectious diseases. He has a particular interest in decision-making, vaccine-preventable diseases and antimicrobial resistance.

Professor Mark Ferson is a public health physician and paediatrician with additional qualifications in epidemiology and art history. His research interests are in the epidemiology and control of infectious diseases, with a particular focus on childcare settings, childhood vaccination, gastroenteritis viruses and the exanthemata, and on public health law and history.

For the latest news of what is happening at

The Australian Society for Microbiology

and for information about ASM Awards go to

www.theasm.org.au

Not an ASM member? You can join online at

www.theasm.org.au